


PRESIDENT’S LETTER
March 26, 2024

Dear Valued Shareholders, Clients, and Community Members,

I hope this correspondence finds you well. As we take stock of Queensborough's financial journey
throughout 2023, I am pleased to share our annual review with you. Despite encountering various
challenges, I am both proud and grateful to report on our continued commitment to delivering exceptional
service, fostering growth, and positively impacting the communities we serve.

In 2023, Queensborough maintained its legacy of excellence, achieving robust figures in key financial
metrics. Our total loans reached an impressive $1,165,939,000, showcasing our dedication to supporting
individuals and businesses in pursuit of their aspirations. Additionally, our total assets surged to
$2,076,760,000, a testament to our prudent financial management and strategic initiatives.

While our net income for the year experienced a slight decline compared to the previous year, standing at
$15,165,000, it highlights the resilience of our institution amidst evolving market dynamics and economic
uncertainties.

Our commitment to enhancing shareholder value remains steadfast, as evidenced by our earnings per share
of $11.37. Although this figure reflects a decrease from 2022's earnings per share of $14.64, we maintain
confidence in our ability to navigate challenges and seize opportunities for long-term growth and
profitability.

A notable achievement of 2023 was the opening of our 25th retail branch location in Hinesville, Georgia.
This expansion not only underscores our dedication to serving the needs of our growing customer base but
also reinforces our presence in the local communities we are privileged to be a part of.

Furthermore, Queensborough expanded its offerings in wealth management and insurance, empowering our
clients to achieve financial security and peace of mind. Additionally, we launched an internal financial
literacy accreditation program, certifying 96 of our employees to educate others on the importance of
financial wellness—a testament to our commitment to empowering individuals and fostering economic
prosperity.

As we look ahead, I want to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, clients, and dedicated
employees for their unwavering support and commitment to Queensborough's mission. Together, we will
continue to innovate, adapt, and thrive in an ever-changing landscape, ensuring a brighter future for all.

Thank you for your continued trust and confidence in Queensborough.

Warm regards,

William F. Easterlin, III President and Chief Executive Officer
bill@qnbtrust.bank | 478.494.0614

PS. While the numbers mentioned above are ours, this letter is entirely AI-generated. Welcome to the new world. 



Located at 110 W General Screven Way,
Hinesville‘s full-service branch offers a full suite
of services for business and consumer banking.
The bank purchased and renovated the existing
structure, which was previously a Jimmy John‘s. 
 
Melissa Deal, Vice President and Business
Banker leads the Hinesville market for the bank.
Deal has 31 years of banking experience in
Hinesville and its surrounding markets.
Alongside Deal, Chris Ellison manages the
Hinesville location. Ellison has over 16 years of
banking experience in the Hinesville market and
is highly involved in the local community.

Rounding out the Hinesville Queensborough
team are Jennifer McFarland, Megan Moore, and
Rachel Mobley, all serving in the role of
Universal Banker.

Queensborough looks forward to a bright future
in Hinesville. 
 

NOW OPEN IN HINESVILLE
QUEENSBOROUGH OPENS 25TH RETAIL LOCATION

“QUEENSBOROUGH IS A
BANK THAT WILL ALLOW THE
DREAMS OF THE PEOPLE OF
THIS COMMUNITY TO COME
TRUE.” 

Melissa Deal
VP, Hinesville Market President



“THIS PROGRAM IS A TRIBUTE TO
OUR IQ UNIVERSITY PROGRAM
FOUNDER, HENRY LEVRETT. BY
EMPOWERING EMPLOYEES TO
EXPAND AND SPREAD THEIR
KNOWLEDGE, THEY ARE
IMPROVING LIVES THROUGHOUT
THE COMMUNITIES WE SERVE.”

Queensborough is proud to announce the launch
of a new internal financial literacy accreditation
program. Recently, the bank awarded 96
employees with their “IQ University Certification,”
a program designed to reward and empower
employees to help educate others about their
own financial wellness. Certified employees were
recognized for their dedication and commitment  
and received an annual salary increase of
$1,000.

Queensborough introduced the comprehensive
financial literacy program certification comprising
100 online courses and final examination. The
courses cover a wide range of financial topics,
from personal finance management to investment
strategies. The results were remarkable, with
over one fourth of employees successfully
completing the courses and passing the final
exam. To commemorate this significant
achievement, the bank hosted a celebratory
breakfast event on October 17 in Louisville, GA.

EMPOWERING EMPLOYEES WITH
FINANCIAL LITERACY CERTIFICATION
NEW PROGRAM PROVIDES RESOURCES AND INCENTIVES FOR EMPLOYEES

ANOTHER AWARD-WINNING YEAR
QUEENSBOROUGH GAINS RECOGNITION ACROSS THE STATE

Dagan Sharpe
President & CEO



IN THE
COMMUNITY

Five branches offered free
COMMUNITY SHRED EVENTS.

Dalton Murphy was awarded
the 2023 Qmmunity Bank

Scholarship. 

Our staff hosted FIVE Manna Trucks (mobile food pantries) for
GOLDEN HARVEST FOOD BANK.

Team Q rode and raised $12,890 for PACELINE to fight cancer.

We volunteered with PROJECT
REFRESH a non-profit

organization that operates a
mobile shower unit throughout

the Augusta area.

We partnered with RISE Augusta to
help support local kids in need with
school supplies for the new school

year.

$19,818.52 was donated to
UNITED WAY OF THE CSRA. 
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COMPANY FINANCIALS

TOTAL DEPOSITS

TOTAL ASSETS

NET INCOME

NET INCOME PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK

$1,081,371,379

$1,224,899,522

$14,031,706

$9.82 $8.50

$12,156,123

$1,668,236,122

$1,489,867,276

$1,907,486,328 $1,752,938,893

$2,072,964,442
$1,903,805,815

$18,947,733 $19,216,896

$14.40 $14.64

$2,076,760,014

$1,845,644,876

$11.63

$15,164,518
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

  
  
Board of Directors 
The Queensborough Company 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Queensborough Company and Subsidiary (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related 
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the 
“financial statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
 
We have also audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission in 2013, and our report dated March 21, 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance GAAS. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for credit 
losses effective January 1, 2023 due to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 
Standards Codification No. 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (ASC 326). The Company adopted the new 
credit loss standard using the modified retrospective method such that prior period amounts are not adjusted 
and continue to be reported in accordance with previously applicable generally accepted accounting principles. 
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements, Continued 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued (or within one year after 
the date that the financial statements are available to be issued when applicable). 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in 
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 

raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
  

 
Greenville, South Carolina 
March 21, 2024 
  



The Queensborough Company 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Assets  2023  2022 

     
Cash and due from banks  $       45,815,252  38,470,636 
Interest-bearing deposits with banks      167,917,572  87,332,898 

    Cash and cash equivalents     213,732,824  125,803,534 
Investment securities available for sale      260,324,701  253,548,623 
Investments securities held to maturity (fair value of $299,362,440     
 and $321,319,144, respectively), less allowance for credit losses-     346,850,504  373,857,831 
    investments of $159,949 and $0, respectively     
Other investments         3,362,762  2,724,063 
Loans held for sale         5,029,127  7,788,032 
Loans, less allowance for credit losses of $10,883,320 and $10,829,928, respectively  1,155,055,810  1,051,107,354 
Premises and equipment, net       38,751,356  36,639,303 
Goodwill and core deposit intangible         3,388,930  3,394,838 
Other real estate              26,212  340,229 
Cash surrender value of life insurance       21,066,303  20,550,877 

Accrued interest receivable and other assets       29,171,485  28,051,131 

Total assets $ 2,076,760,014  1,903,805,815  

                         Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    
Deposits:      

 Noninterest-bearing $     651,518,867  729,459,828 
 NOW and money market accounts     811,008,064  730,778,923 
 Savings       91,399,362  99,766,823 
 Time deposits, $250,000 or more     117,842,802  50,602,756 
 Other time deposits     173,875,781  142,330,563 

   Total deposits  1,845,644,876  1,752,938,893 

     
Subordinated debentures, net       23,749,636  23,608,300 
Federal Home Bank Advances         5,000,000  - 
Federal Reserve Bank Advances       55,000,000  - 
Junior subordinated debentures        12,372,000  12,372,000 
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities       16,882,426  11,939,938 

   Total liabilities  1,958,648,938  1,800,859,131 

Commitments and Contingencies   
      

Shareholders’ equity:      
 Common stock, $1 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;     
  1,299,264 and 1,312,784 shares issued and outstanding  
  at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 

   
       1,299,264  1,312,784 

 Additional paid-in capital         7,398,698  8,621,562 
 Retained earnings     143,260,006  130,894,363 

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (33,846,892)   (37,882,025) 

   Total shareholders’ equity     118,111,076  102,946,684 

   Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $  2,076,760,014  1,903,805,815 

  



The Queensborough Company 

Consolidated Statements of Earnings 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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  2023  2022 

Interest income:     
 Interest and fees on loans $ 64,856,288     50, 734,297 
 Interest on investment securities:     
  Taxable  13,805,316  11,797,318 
  Tax exempt  828,071  276,661 
  Other investments   164,674  161,949 
 Interest on federal funds sold and interest-bearing deposits with banks  4,877,621  2,800,238   

     Total interest income  84,531,970  65,770,463 

Interest expense:     
 Deposits:     
  NOW and money market accounts  16,230,820  3,076,956 
  Savings   476,413  94,901 
  Time   6,452,577  1,401,420 
 Borrowed funds  377,880  4,848 
 Subordinated debentures  1,440,000  1,440,000 
 Junior subordinated debentures  915,629  495,467 

     Total interest expense  25,893,319  6,513,592 

     Net interest income  58,638,651  59,256,871 

Provision for (recovery) of credit losses   1,350,000  (2,500,000) 

     Net interest income after provision for (recovery) of credit losses  57,288,651  61,756,871 

Other income:     
 Service charges on deposit accounts  8,633,980  8,548,999 

Mortgage banking income  3,126,841  5,843,301 
   Net gain (loss) on sale of securities  2,222  (1,993,953) 

Net gains on sale of other real estate  13,212   25,116 
   Investment management fees  1,913,544  1,361,422 

Other   2,531,537  2,265,688 

     Total other income  16,221,336  16,050,573 

Other expenses:     
 Salaries and employee benefits  33,885,981  33,254,155 
 Occupancy and equipment  3,910,261  3,836,965 
 Federal deposit insurance assessment  995,046  1,087,258 
 Loan expense  584,470  711,096 
   Data processing  2,150,199  2,305,767 
   Other  12,663,983  11,749,291 

     Total other expenses  54,189,940  52,944,532 

     Earnings before income taxes  19,320,047  24,862,912 
Income tax expense   4,155,529  5,646,016 

Net earnings   $ 15,164,518  19,216,896 

Net earnings per share:     
   Basic $ 11.63  14.64 

   Diluted $ 11.60  14.58 



The Queensborough Company 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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  2023  2022 

     
Net earnings $    15,164,518  19,216,896 

     
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes:     
  Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities available for sale:     

 
Holding gains (losses) arising during period   

 
     4,350,412  (37,028,583) 

Realized (gains) losses gains on investment securities available for sale  (2,222)  1,993,953 
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period on securities 
available for sale transferred to held to maturity 

 
                   -  

 
(11,050,531) 

Reclassification adjustment for amortization of unrealized losses on 
securities available for sale transferred to held to maturity 

 
     1,085,602  767,590 

Net gains (losses) on securities       5,433,792  (45,317,571) 

Net effect of taxes  (1,398,659)  11,664,743 
   
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax  

 
     4,035,133   (33,652,828)  

     
Comprehensive income (loss)  $     19,199,651  (14,435,932) 

 
 
 
 
 



The Queensborough Company 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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                       Accumulated 

 

     Additional    Other   
   Common  Paid-In  Retained  Comprehensive   
   Stock  Capital  Earnings  Income (Loss)   Total 

            

Balance, December 31, 2021 
$  

1,312,784 
 

      8,621,562 
   

114,303,036 
 

   (4,229,197) 
 

 120,008,185 
            

Common dividends 
  

              - 
 

                  - 
 

 (2,625,569) 
                            

- 
 

   (2,625,569) 
            
Other comprehensive loss, net                 -                    -  -  (33,652,828)   (33,652,828) 
            
Net earnings                 -                    -    19,216,896                      -     19,216,896 

            
Balance, December 31, 2022 $   1,312,784      8,621,562  130,894,363  (37,882,025)   102,946,684 
            
Adoption of new accounting 
   standard 

  
             - 

 
             - 

        
(200,347) 

 
             - 

 
     (200,347) 

            
Common dividends                  -                    -   (2,598,528)                     -     (2,598,528) 
            
Exercise of warrants for   
  1,088 shares 

  
        1,088 

 
         77,248 

 
- 

 
                   - 

 
         78,336 

            
Common stock repurchased, 
   14,608 shares 

        
(14,608) 

 
 (1,300,112) 

 
- 

 
                   - 

 
 (1,314,720) 

            
Other comprehensive income,  
   net 

  
             - 

 
                 - 

 
- 

 
  4,035,133 

¤  
   4,035,133 

            
Net earnings                -                   -  15,164,518                     -    15,164,518 

            
Balance, December 31, 2023 $  1,299,264      7,398,698  143,260,006  (33,846,892)  118,111,076 
            
            

 



The Queensborough Company 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
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  2023  2022 

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net earnings $       15,164,518  19,216,896 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Discount accretion and premium amortization, net    (63,003)  2,785,822 
Depreciation          1,684,021  1,626,824 
Earnings on BOLI  (515,426)  (478,354) 
Amortization of intangible assets                 5,908  74,804 

    Provision for deferred income tax expense                (62,053)  893,728 
Provision (recovery) of loan losses          1,350,000  (2,500,000) 
(Gain) loss on sale of securities  (2,222)  1,993,953 
Gain on sale of fixed assets                       -  (31,737) 
Net gain on sales of other real estate  (13,212)  (25,116) 
Write down of other real estate owned                       -  55,055 
Change in:     

Loans held for sale          2,758,905  6,224,809 
Accrued interest receivable and other assets  (1,366,633)  (1,662,290) 
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities          3,934,200  1,415,245 

 Net cash provided by operating activities         22,875,003  29,589,639 

Cash flows from investing activities:     
Proceeds from pay downs, calls and maturities of securities available for sale        31,908,024  55,447,716 
Proceeds from pay downs, calls and maturities of securities held to maturity        38,638,413  27,922,190 
Purchases of securities available for sale  (59,325,186)  (17,506,452) 

Purchases of securities held to maturity  (11,139,122)  (107,419,016) 

Proceeds from sale of securities available for sale        24,939,722   17,364,531 
Purchases of other investments  (638,699)  (299,373) 
Net increase in loans  (104,872,427)  (91,240,543) 
Purchases of premises and equipment  (3,796,074)  (2,877,810) 
Sales of premises and equipment                       -  226,619 
Proceeds from sale of other real estate           327,229  362,000 

 Net cash used in investing activities  (83,958,120)  (118,020,138) 

Cash flows from financing activities:      
Net increase (decrease) in deposits         92,705,983  (154,547,435) 
Proceeds from borrowings         60,000,000                       - 
Repurchase and retire common stock     (1,314,720)  - 
Amortization of debt issuance costs              141,336  141,336 
Exercise of warrants               78,336  - 
Cash dividends paid  (2,598,528)  (2,625,569) 

  Net cash provided by (used in) provided by financing activities       149,012,407   (157,031,668) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents          87,929,290  (245,462,167) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  
 

     125,803,534   371,265,701 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    $        213,732,824   125,803,534 

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing and investing activities:     
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available for sale, net  $          4,432,383  (35,034,630) 
Loans transferred to other real estate                         -  25,466 

    Transfer of investment securities available for sale to held to maturity                       -  66,574,505 
    Unrealized loss during the period on available for sale securities transferred  

   to held to maturity  
                      

                     -  10,282,941 
    Adoption of ASU 2016-13          (200,347)  - 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:     

 Cash paid for interest         22,314,083  6,466,381 
 Cash paid for income taxes            3,218,000  4,960,000 

 



The Queensborough Company 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
Basis of Presentation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Queensborough Company 
(“Queensborough”) and its wholly owned subsidiary, Queensborough National Bank and Trust Company (the 
“Bank”) (collectively the “Company”). The accounts of Queensborough National Bank and Trust Company 
include the accounts of the Bank and its wholly owned subsidiary, Queensborough Insurance Agency, Inc. 
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
The Company’s primary market is comprised of Jefferson, Bulloch, Burke, Candler, Chatham, Columbia, 
Effingham, Emanuel, Jenkins, Liberty, McDuffie, Richmond, Screven, Washington and contiguous counties 
of east central and southeast Georgia. Queensborough National Bank and Trust has its home office in 
Louisville, Georgia with branch banks in Augusta, Evans, Garden City, Grovetown, Hephzibah, Hinesville, 
Martinez, Metter, Midville, Millen, Pooler, Rincon, Sandersville, Savannah, Statesboro, Swainsboro, 
Sylvania, Thomson, Wadley, Waynesboro and Wrens, Georgia. Loan production offices are located in Aiken 
and Columbia, South Carolina. 
 
The Bank commenced business in 1902 upon receipt of its banking charter from the Office of the Comptroller 
of the Currency (the “OCC”). The Bank is primarily regulated by the OCC and undergoes periodic 
examinations by this regulatory agency. The Company is regulated by the Federal Reserve Bank and is also 
subject to periodic examinations. The Bank provides a full range of commercial and consumer banking 
services throughout its Georgia trade area. 
 
The accounting principles followed by the Company, and the methods of applying these principles, conform 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and with general 
practices in the banking industry. In preparing the financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. 
Actual results could differ significantly from these estimates. Material estimates common to the banking 
industry that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term include, but are not limited to, 
the determination of the allowance for credit losses, the valuation of fair value of investments, the valuation 
of collateral dependent individually evaluated loans, the valuation of real estate acquired in connection with 
or in lieu of foreclosure on loans and valuation allowances associated with the realization of deferred tax 
assets which are based on future taxable income. 
 
Accounting Standards Adopted in 2023 
On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASC 326).  This standard replaced the incurred 
loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss 
(“CECL”) methodology.  CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for the remaining estimated life of the 
financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts and 
generally applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loan receivables and held to 
maturity debt securities, and some off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded commitments to 
extend credit.  Financial assets measured at amortized cost will be presented at the net amount expected to 
be collected by using an allowance for credit losses. 
 
In addition, CECL made changes to the accounting for available for sale debt securities.  Once such change 
is to require credit losses to be presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down on available for sale 
debt securities if management does not intend to sell and does not believe that is it more likely than not they 
will be required to sell. 
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 and all related subsequent amendments thereto effective January 1, 2023, 
using the modified retrospective approach for all financial assets measured at amortized cost and off-balance 
sheet credit exposures.  The transition adjustment of the adoption of CECL included a decrease in the 
allowance for credit losses on loans of $398,970, which is presented as a reduction to net loans outstanding, 
an increase in the allowance for credit losses on unfunded loan commitments of $535,426, which is recorded 
within other liabilities.  The Company recorded an allowance for credit losses for held to maturity securities 
of $132,890 which is presented as a reduction to held to maturity securities outstanding.   
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(1)       Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued  
      Accounting Standards Adopted in 2023, continued 

The Company recorded a net decrease to retained earnings of $200,347 as if January 1, 2023, for the                                               
cumulative effect of adopting CECL, which reflects the transition adjustments noted above, net of the 
applicable deferred tax assets recorded.  Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2023, are 
presented under CECL while prior period amounts continue to be reported in accordance with previously 
applicable accounting standards (“Incurred Loss”). 
 
ASU No. 2022-02, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and 
Vintage Disclosures,” eliminates the troubled debt restructuring (TDR) accounting model for creditors that 
have adopted Topic 326, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses.”  ASU No. 2022-02 requires all loan 
modifications to be accounted for under the general loan modification guidance in Subtopic 310-20.  On a 
prospective basis, entities are subject to new disclosure requirements covering modifications of receivables 
to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty.  The Company adopted ASU No. 2022-02 on January 1, 2023 
and elected to apply the weighted average remaining maturities method. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash equivalents include due from banks, interest-bearing deposits with banks, time deposits with banks and 
federal funds sold.  Generally, federal funds are sold within a one to three day period and interest-bearing 
deposits have maturities less than 90 days.  
 
Investment Securities 
The Company may classify its securities in one of three categories: trading, available for sale or held to 
maturity. Trading securities are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. 
Held to maturity securities are those securities for which the Company has the ability and intent to hold the 
securities until maturity. All other securities not included in trading or held to maturity are classified as 
available for sale. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no trading securities. 

 
Available for sale securities are recorded at fair value. Held to maturity securities are recorded at cost, 
adjusted for the amortization or accretion of premiums or discounts. Unrealized holding gains and losses, net 
of the related tax effect, on securities available for sale are excluded from earnings and are reported as a 
separate component of shareholders’ equity until realized. Transfers of securities between categories are 
recorded at fair value at the date of transfer.  
 
Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related securities as adjustments to 
the yield. Realized gains and losses for securities classified as available for sale and held to maturity are 
included in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of 
securities sold. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Held to Maturity Securities 
Management measures expected credit losses on held to maturity securities on a collective basis by major 
security type.  Accrued interest receivable on held to maturity debt securities totaled $1,251,137 at December 
31, 2023 and was excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
 
The estimate of expected credit losses is based on the ratings assigned to the securities by debt ratings 
agencies.  Certain corporate debt securities which are not rated are also, reviewed internally for credit 
deterioration.  Management classifies the held-to-maturity portfolio into the following major security types: 
mortgage-backed securities, state and local governments, and subordinated debentures. 
 
A portion of the mortgage-backed securities held by the Company are issued by government-sponsored 
enterprises and agencies.  These securities are either explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. 
government, are highly rated by major rating agencies and have a long history of no credit losses.  The state 
and local governments securities held by the Company are highly rated by major rating agencies.  As a result, 
an allowance for credit losses of $159,949 was recorded on held to maturity at December 31, 2023. 
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(1)       Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Available for Sale Securities 
For available for sale securities, management evaluates all investments in an unrealized loss position on a 
quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation. If the 
Company has the intent to sell the security, or it more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell 
the security, the security is written down to fair value, and the entire loss is recorded in earnings. 
 
If either of the above criteria is not met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair value is the result 
of credit losses or other factors.  In making the assessment, the Company may consider various factors 
including the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, performance on any underlying collateral, 
downgrades in the ratings of the security by a rating agency, the failure of the issuer to make scheduled 
interest or principal payments and adverse conditions specifically related to the security.  If the assessment 
indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is compared to 
the amortized cost basis of the security and any excess is recorded as an allowance for credit loss, limited 
to the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis.  Any amount of unrealized loss that 
has not been recorded through an allowance for credit loss is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
Changes in the allowance for credit loss are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss expense.  
Losses are charged against the allowance for credit loss when management believes an available for sale 
security is confirmed to be uncollectible or when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell 
is met.  At December 31, 2023, there was no allowance for credit loss related to the available for sale portfolio. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on available-for-sale debt securities totaled $616,023 at December 31, 2023 and 
was excluded from the estimate of credit losses.   
 

             Loans  
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff 
are reported at principal amount outstanding, net of unearned interest and charge offs. Interest on other loans 
is calculated by using the simple interest method on daily balances of the principal amount outstanding.  
 
The accrual of interest is generally discontinued when a loan becomes 90 days past due and is not well 
collateralized and in the process of collection, or when management believes, after considering economic 
and business conditions and collection efforts, that the principal or interest will not be collectible in the normal 
course of business.  Past due status is based on contractual terms of the loan.  A loan is considered to be 
past due when a scheduled payment has not been received 30 days after the contractual due date.    
 
All accrued interest is reversed against interest income when a loan is placed on nonaccrual status.  Interest 
received on such loans is accounted for using the cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual.  
Under the cost-recovery method, interest income is not recognized until the loan balance is reduced to zero.  
Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought 
current there is a sustained period of repayment performance, and future payments are reasonably assured. 

 

Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans 
The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the loans’ principal amount 
outstanding to present the net amount expected to be collected on the loans.  Loans are charged off against 
the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed.  Expected 
recoveries do not exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be charged-off.  
Accrued interest receivable on loans totaled $6,952,933 at December 31, 2023 and was excluded from the 
estimate of credit losses.   
 
The allowance for credit losses represents management’s estimate of lifetime credit losses inherent in loans 
as of the balance sheet date.  The allowance for credit losses is estimated by management using relevant 
available information, from both internal and external sources, relating to past events, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. 
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(1)      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

            Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans, continued 

The Company measures expected credit losses for loans on a pooled basis when similar risk characteristics   
exist.  The Company has identified the following portfolio segments and calculates the allowance for credit 
losses for each using a weighted-average remaining maturity (WARM) methodology. 
 
• Commercial, Financial, and Agricultural-Commercial loans consist of loans or lines of credit to finance         
accounts receivable, inventory or other general business needs, and purchases of equipment, vehicles, or 
other assets.  The primary risk associated with commercial, financial, and agricultural financing loans is the 
ability of borrowers to achieve business results consistent with those projected at origination.  Failure to 
achieve these projections presents risk the borrower will be unable to service the debt consistent with the 
contractual terms of the loan. 
 
• Real Estate-Construction - Construction loans consist of loans to construct a borrower’s primary or 
secondary residence or vacant land upon which the owner intends to construct a dwelling at a future date.  
These loans are typically secured by undeveloped land in anticipation of completing construction of a 1-4 
family residential property.  There is risk the construction and development projects can experience delays 
and cost overruns exceeding the borrower’s financial ability to complete the project.  Such cost overruns can 
result in foreclosure of partially completed and unmarketable collateral.  In addition, construction loans consist 
of loans to finance land for development of commercial or residential real property and construction of 
multifamily apartments or other commercial properties.  These loans are highly dependent on the supply and 
demand for commercial real estate as well as the demand for newly constructed residential homes and lots 
acquired for development.  Deterioration in demand could result in decreased collateral values, which could 
make repayments of outstanding loans difficult for customers. 

 
• Real Estate – Commercial – Owner occupied commercial mortgage consist of loans to purchase or re-
finance owner occupied nonresidential properties.  Typically, owner occupied commercial real estate loans 
are secured by office buildings, warehouses, manufacturing facilities and other commercial and industrial 
properties occupied by operating companies.  Commercial mortgages secured by owner occupied properties 
are primarily dependent on the ability of borrowers to achieve business results consistent with those projected 
at loan origination.  While these loans are collateralized by real property in an effort to mitigate risk, it is 
possible the liquidation of collateral will not fully satisfy the obligation.  Non-owner occupied commercial 
mortgages consist of loans to purchase or refinance investment nonresidential properties.  Typically, non-
owner commercial real estate loans are secured by office buildings and complexes, retail facilities, multifamily 
complexes, land under development, industrial properties, as well as other commercial or industrial real 
estate.  The primary risk associated with non-owner occupied commercial mortgage loans is the ability of the 
income-producing property that collateralizes the loan to produce adequate cash flow to service the debt.   
 
While these loans are collateralized by real property in an effort to mitigate risk, it is possible the liquidation 
of collateral will not fully satisfy the obligation. 
 
• Real Estate – Residential – Residential mortgages consist of loans to purchase or refinance the borrower’s 
primary dwelling, second residence or vacation home, home equity loans and are often secured by 1-4 family 
residential property.    Home equity loans are secure by both senior and junior liens on the residential real 
estate.  Significant and rapid declines in real estate values can result in borrowers having debt levels in 
excess of the current market value of the collateral. 
 
• Installment Loans to Individuals and Others – Installment loans consist of loans to finance unsecured home 
improvements, automobiles, revolving lines of credit that can be secured or unsecured, and other uses.  The 
value of the underlying collateral within this class is at risk of potential rapid depreciation which could result 
in unpaid balances in excess of the collateral.   
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(1)       Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans, continued 
The Company calculates the allowance for credit losses for each pool of loans using the WARM methodology. 
Under the WARM methodology, lifetime losses are calculated by determining the remaining life of the loan 
pool, and then applying a loss rate over this remaining life of the loan.  The methodology considers historical 
loss experience to estimate credit losses for the remaining balance of the loan pool.  The calculated loss rate 
is applied to the contractual term (adjusted for prepayments) to determine the loan pool’s current expected 
credit losses.  The Company applies the forecasting adjustment through qualitative factors over a period of 
24 months, which immediately reverts to historical losses. 

 

Additionally, the allowance for credit losses calculation includes subjective adjustments for qualitative risk 
factors that  are likely to cause estimated credit losses to differ from historical experience.  These qualitative 
adjustments may increase or reduce reserve levels and include adjustments for lending management 
experience and risk tolerance, loan review and audit results, asset quality and portfolio trends, loan portfolio 
growth, industry concentrations, trends in underlying collateral, external factors, and economic conditions not 
already captured.   
 
Loans that do not share risk characteristics are evaluated on an individual basis.  When the borrower is 
experiencing financial difficulty and repayment is expected to be provided through operation or sale of the 
collateral, the expected credit losses are based on the fair value of collateral at the reporting date, adjusted 
for selling costs as appropriate.   

 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Unfunded Commitments 
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans and 
commercial letters of credit issued to meet customer financing needs.  The Company’s exposure to credit 
loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for off-balance sheet loan 
commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments.  Such financial instruments are 
recorded when they are funded. 
 
The Company records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures, unless the 
commitments to extend credit are unconditionally cancelable, through a charge to provision for unfunded 
commitments in the Company’s income statements.  The allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet 
credit exposures is estimated by loan segment at each balance sheet date under the current expected credit 
loss model using the same methodologies as portfolio loans, taking into consideration the likelihood that 
funding will occur as well as any third-party guarantees.  The allowance for unfunded commitments is 
included in other liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet.   
 
Derivatives Financial Instruments 
ASU 2022-01, Derivatives and Hedging-Fair Value Hedging-Portfolio Layer Method, was issued in March 
2022 and amends ASC Topic 815 by allowing non prepayable financial assets also to be included in a closed 
portfolio hedge using the portfolio layer method.  This amendment permits the Company to apply fair value 
hedging to a stated amount of a closed portfolio of prepayable and non-prepayable financial assets without 
considering prepayment risk or credit risk when measuring those assets. 

 
The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations and uses interest rate 
derivatives as part of its asset-liability management strategy to help manage its interest rate risk position.  
The Company records all derivative assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.  
The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, 
whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge 
accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge 
accounting in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging.  The Company has chosen early adoption 
of the portfolio layer method of accounting.  The Company currently has derivatives that are designed to as 
qualifying hedging relationships.  There are no other derivatives that are not designated as qualifying hedging 
relationships. 
  
For fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged 
item are recognized in current earnings as fair value changes.  The change in fair value of the hedged item 
is recorded as a basis adjustment to the hedged assets or liabilities. 
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(1)      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

            Derivative Financial Instruments, continued  
For fair value hedges meeting certain specific criteria, the Company applies the shortcut method of hedge          
accounting.  For other derivatives that do not fall under shortcut method, the Company assesses the 
effectiveness of each hedging relationship by comparing the changes in the cash flows of the derivative 
hedging instrument with the changes in cash flows of the designated hedged transactions.  As of December 
31, 2023, there are no hedging instruments that do not meet the criteria for the shortcut method. 
 
During the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company entered into three interest rate swaps using the 
portfolio layer method, designated as a hedging instrument. 
 
Other Investments 
Other investments include equity investments in the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”), the Federal Reserve 
Bank and other equity securities with no readily determinable market value. These investments are carried 
at cost, which approximates market value.  
 
Loans Held for Sale and Mortgage Banking Income 
The Company originates mortgage loans on behalf of third parties.  Such loans are originated pursuant to 
commitments from third parties to acquire the loans that are in place prior to extension of a commitment to 
make the loan.  These loans are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or market value. The amount by which 
cost exceeds market value is accounted for as a valuation allowance. Changes, if any, in the valuation 
allowance are included in the determination of net earnings in the period in which the change occurs. As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded no valuation allowance related to its mortgage 
loans held for sale as their cost approximates market value. The Company receives revenue from the charges 
and fees generated in making these loans to borrowers. Gains and losses from the sale of loans are 
determined using the specific identification method. 
 
Premises and Equipment 
Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each asset.  Significant additions and 
improvements are capitalized.  Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense. The range of estimated 
useful lives for premises and equipment are: 
 
 Buildings and improvement:  10-40 years 
 Furniture and fixtures:  5-30 years 
 
Goodwill and Core Deposit Intangible 
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired 
in a business combination.  Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more 
often, if events or circumstances indicate there may be impairment.  Goodwill impairment exists when a 
reporting unit’s carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, which is initially determined through  
a qualitative assessment, and following that a quantitative assessment if required. 
 
If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, no further testing is required.  If the carrying 
value exceeds the fair value, further analysis is required to determine whether an impairment charge must 
be recorded based upon the implied fair value of goodwill and, if so, the amount of such charge.  The 
Company performs its Goodwill testing at least on an annual basis unless it’s determined that conditions exist 
to indicate impairment. 

  

For the Company’s annual goodwill impairment evaluation, management bypassed the qualitative 
assessment for each respective reporting unit and performed Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test.  Step 1 
of the goodwill impairment test requires a comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying 
amount, including goodwill.  Accordingly, management determined the fair value of the reporting unit and 
compared the fair value to the reporting unit’s carrying amount.  Management determined that the reporting 
unit’s fair value exceeded its carrying amount and therefore goodwill was not impaired.  No events occurred 
since the last annual goodwill impairment assessment as of December 31, 2023 that would necessitate an 
interim goodwill impairment assessment.   
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(1)       Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

Goodwill and Core Deposit Intangible, continued 
The core deposit intangible represents the value of the acquired core deposit base related to branch 
acquisitions. Core deposit intangibles are amortized over the estimated useful life of the deposit base, 
generally on a straight-line basis. 
 

The remaining useful lives of core deposit intangibles are evaluated periodically to determine whether events 
and circumstances warrant revision of the remaining period of amortization.  Core deposit intangible 
amortization expense is included in other noninterest expense.   

 

                Other Real Estate 
Other real estate represents properties acquired through or in lieu of loan foreclosure and is initially recorded 
at fair value less estimated costs to sell.  Any write-down to fair value at the time of transfer to other real 
estate is charged to the allowance for credit losses.  Write-downs for a decline in fair value less estimated 
costs to sell subsequent to acquisition are charged to earnings. Costs of improvements are capitalized, 
whereas costs relating to holding other real estate are expensed. 
 

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance 
Life insurance contracts represent single premium life insurance contracts on the lives of certain officers of 
the Company. The Company is the beneficiary of these policies. These contracts are reported at their cash 
surrender value and changes in the cash surrender value are included in other noninterest income. 
 

Income Taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax 
bases. Additionally, the recognition of future tax benefits, such as net operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards, is required to the extent that the realization of such benefits is more likely than not to occur. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income 
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes 
the enactment date. 
 
In the event the future tax consequences of differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax 
bases of the assets and liabilities result in deferred tax assets, an evaluation of the probability of being able 
to realize the future benefits indicated by such asset is required. A valuation allowance is provided for the 
portion of the deferred tax asset when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax 
asset will not be realized. In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, management considers the 
scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies. 
 

The Company currently evaluates income tax positions judged to be uncertain. GAAP requires that a loss 
contingency reserve be accrued if it is probable that the tax position will be challenged, it is probable that the 
future resolution of the challenge will confirm that a loss has been incurred, and the amount of such loss can 
be reasonably estimated.  
 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
At December 31, 2023 and 2022, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of net 
unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities available for sale. 
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             Net Earnings per Share 
Net earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period, while the effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period are included in diluted 
earnings per share. The average market price during the year is used to compute equivalent shares. 
 
The reconciliations of the amounts used in the computation of both “basic earnings per common share” and 
“diluted earnings per common share” for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 

 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023 

 

Net 
Earnings 

 Weighted 
Average 
Common 
Shares 

 Weighted 
Average 

Per Share 
Amount 

Net earnings $ 15,164,518       

Net earnings available to common shareholders   15,164,518  1,303,927  $11.63 

 for basic earnings per common share       

Effect of dilutive securities – warrants  -   3,576   

Diluted earnings per common share $ 15,164,518  1,307,503  $11.60 

For the year ended December 31, 2022       

Net earnings $ 19,216,896       

Net earnings available to common shareholders   19,216,896  1,312,784    $14.64 

 for basic earnings per common share       

Effect of dilutive securities – warrants  -   5,023   

Diluted earnings per common share $ 19,216,896  1,317,807    $14.58 

 
Advertising Expenses 
Advertising and public relations costs are generally expensed as incurred.  External costs incurred in 
producing media advertising are expensed the first time the advertising takes place.  External costs relating 
to direct mailing costs are expensed in the period in which the direct mailings are sent.  Advertising and public 
relations costs of $1,058,672 and $909,269, were included in the Company’s results of operations for 2023 
and 2022, respectively.   
 
Off-Balance Sheet Financial Instruments 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into off-balance sheet financial instruments 
consisting of commitments to extend credit and letters of credit.  These financial instruments are recorded in 
the financial statements when they become payable by the customer.    
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 
 Revenue Recognition 

The Company records revenue from contracts with customers in accordance with Accounting Standards 
Codification Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“Topic 606”). Under Topic 606, the 
Company must identify the contract with a customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, 
determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, 
and recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation. Significant revenue 
has not been recognized in the current reporting period that results from performance obligations satisfied in 
previous periods. 
 
The Company’s primary sources of revenue are derived from interest and dividends earned on loans, 
investment securities, and other financial instruments that are not within the scope of Topic 606. The 
Company has evaluated the nature of its contracts with customers and determined that further disaggregation 
of revenue from contracts with customers into more granular categories beyond what is presented in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings was not necessary. The Company generally fully satisfies its 
performance obligations on its contracts with customers as services are rendered and the transaction prices 
are typically fixed; charged either on a periodic basis or based on activity. The Company’s accounting policies 
did not change materially since the principles of revenue recognition from the Accounting Standards Update 
are largely consistent with existing guidance and current practices applied by our business. 
 
Recently issued accounting pronouncements 
The following is a summary of recent authoritative pronouncements. 

 
In December, the FASB published ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, that addresses 
requests for improved income tax disclosures from investors, lenders, creditors, and other allocators of capital 
(collectively, “investors”) that use the financial statements to make capital allocation decisions.  The ASU 
improves the transparency of the income tax disclosures by requiring (1) consistent categories and greater 
disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by 
jurisdiction. It also includes certain other amendments to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures.  
The amendments are effective December 15, 2025.  Early adoption is permitted for annual financial 
statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. 

 
Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting 
bodies are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations 
or cash flows. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties 
In the normal course of its business, the Company encounters two significant types of risks: economic and 
regulatory. There are three main components of economic risk: interest rate risk, credit risk and market risk.   

 
The Company is subject to interest rate risk to the degree that its interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice 
at different speeds, or on a different basis, than its interest-earning assets. Credit risk is the risk of default on 
the Company's loan portfolio that results from a borrower's inability or unwillingness to make contractually 
required payments.  Market risk reflects changes in the value of collateral underlying loans receivable and 
the valuation of real estate held by the Company. 
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(1)        Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 
 Risks and Uncertainties, continued 

The Company is subject to the regulations of various governmental agencies. These regulations can and do 
change significantly from period to period. The Company also undergoes periodic examinations by the 
regulatory agencies, which may subject it to further changes with respect to asset valuations, amounts of 
required loss allowances and operating restrictions from the regulators' judgments based on information 
available to them at the time of their examination. 

 
Reclassifications 
Certain captions and amounts in the 2022 consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform 
with the 2023 presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the results of operations or shareholders’ 
equity. 

 
(2) Investment Securities 

Investment securities at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 

Securities Available for Sale  

Amortized 
Cost 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

  
Fair 

Value 
     

December 31, 2023     

State, county and municipals $ 8,735,124  74  1,383,036  7,352,162 
Mortgage-backed securities  218,382,235  -  32,914,197  185,468,038 
U. S. Government Agencies  13,818,854  -  1,377,456  12,441,398 
U. S. Treasury notes  43,004,973  -  679,070  42,325,903 
Collateralized loan obligations  12,465,076  -  27,876  12,437,200 
Trust preferred securities  300,000  -  -  300,000 

Total $ 296,706,262  74  36,381,635  260,324,701 

December 31, 2022         

State, county and municipals $ 9,560,088  8,390  1,721,665  7,846,813 
Mortgage-backed securities  244,441,584  -  36,734,800  207,706,784 
U. S. Government Agencies  15,407,135  2,345  1,714,382  13,695,098 
U. S. Treasury notes  8,517,002  -  875,094  7,641,908 
Collateralized loan obligations  16,052,565  305,455  -  16,358,020 
Trust preferred securities  300,000  -  -  300,000 

Total $ 294,278,374  316,190  41,045,941  253,548,623 
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(2) Investment Securities, continued 
 

Securities Held to Maturity 
 

Amortized 
Cost 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

 
 
 

 Allowance 
for 

Credit 
Losses 

     Fair  
December 31, 2023     Value  

State, county and municipals $ 35,097,887  -  6,600,544      28,497,343  (17,582) 
Mortgage-backed securities  189,919,202  251,052  32,457,263    157,712,991  (8,938) 
U. S. Government Agencies  11,263,953  -  1,036,084      10,227,869                    - 
U. S. Treasury notes  34,175,454  -  2,171,230      32,004,224                    - 
Collateralized loan obligations  38,808,498  -  49,934      38,758,564  (38,882) 
Subordinated debentures  37,745,459  -  5,584,010      32,161,449  (94,547) 

Total $ 347,010,453  251,052  47,899,065    299,362,440 
 

(159,949) 

 

December 31, 2022  
Amortized 

Cost  

Gross 
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  

 
Fair 

Value 

State, county and municipals $ 36,346,612  -  8,528,703  27,817,909 
Mortgage-backed securities  216,604,550  143  36,291,819  180,312,874 
U. S. Government Agencies  11,263,463  -  1,448,362  9,815,101 
U. S. Treasury notes  34,216,933  -  3,076,847  31,140,086 
Collateralized loan obligations  38,091,138  955,820  76,601  38,970,357 
Subordinated debentures  37,335,135  -  4,072,318  33,262,817 

Total $ 373,857,831  955,963  53,494,650    321,319,144 

 
 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and estimated fair value of available for sale securities 
for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded aggregated by category and length of time 
that securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2023. 
 

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 

  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized 

December 31, 2023  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses 

State, county and 
municipals 

 
$ 

 
- 

  
- 

  
      4,447,777 

  
1,383,036 

  
4,447,777 

  
1,383,036 

Mortgage-backed 
securities 

  
295,618 

  
4,878 

  
185,172,420 

  
32,909,319 

  
185,468,038 

  
32,914,197 

U. S. Government 
Agencies 

  
1,453,463 

  
6,560 

  
10,987,935 

  
1,370,896 

  
12,441,398 

  
1,377,456 

Collateralized loan 
obligations 

  
- 

  
- 

  
12,437,200 

  
27,876 

  
12,437,200 

  
27,876 

U. S. Treasury notes  34,437,754  28,418  7,888,149  650,652  42,325,903  679,070 

 $ 36,186,835  39,856  220,933,481  36,341,779  257,120,316  36,381,635 
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(2)  Investment Securities, continued 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and estimated fair value of available for sale securities 
and held to maturity  securities aggregated by category and length of time that securities have been in a 
continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2022: 

 
  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 

  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized 
Available for sale  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses 

State, county and 
municipals 

 
$ 

 
1,556,670 

  
28,324 

  
5,647,698 

  
1,693,341 

  
7,204,368 

  
1,721,665 

Mortgage-backed 
securities 

  
33,683,455 

  
2,686,090 

  
174,023,329 

  
34,048,710 

  
207,706,784 

  
36,734,800 

U. S. Government 
Agencies 

  
3,314,112 

  
10,382 

  
8,296,000 

  
1,704,000 

  
11,610,112 

  
1,714,382 

U. S. Treasury notes 
 -  -   

7,641,908 
  

875,094 
  

7,641,908 
  

875,094 

Total available for sale $ 38,554,237  2,724,796  195,608,935  38,321,145  234,163,172  41,045,941 

 
  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 

  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized 
Held to maturity  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses 

State, county and 
municipals 

 
$ 

 
1,030,772 

  
1,429 

  
26,787,137 

  
8,527,274 

  
27,817,909 

  
8,528,703 

Mortgage-backed 
securities 

  
65,195,676 

  
5,044,815 

  
114,131,390 

  
31,247,004 

  
179,327,066 

  
36,291,819 

U. S. Government 
Agencies 

  
- 

  
- 

  
9,815,101 

  
1,448,362 

  
9,815,101 

  
1,448,362 

Subordinated 
debentures 

  
15,236,424 

  
1,598,711 

  
18,026,393 

  
2,473,607 

  
33,262,817 

  
4,072,318 

Collateralized loan 
obligations 

  
4,416,702 

  
76,601 

  
- 

  
- 

  
4,416,702 

  
76,601 

U. S. Treasury notes  -  -  31,140,086  3,076,847  31,140,086  3,076,847 

Total held to maturity $ 85,879,574  6,721,556  199,900,107  46,773,094  285,779,681  53,494,650 

 
Management evaluates all available for sale securities in an unrealized loss position for credit-related 
impairment on a quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market concerns warrant such 
evaluation. Management first evaluates whether they intend to sell or more likely than not will be required to 
sell an impaired security before recovering its amortized cost basis.  If either criteria is met, the Company 
evaluates whether the decline in fair value is the result of credit losses of other factors.  If the assessment 
indicates that a credit loss exists, the credit loss is recorded as an allowance for credit losses, limited to the 
amount the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis.  
 
The market value of available for sale investment securities is based on quoted market values and is 
significantly affected by the interest rate environment. At December 31, 2023, 9 of 10 available for sale 
securities issued as state, county and municipal securities contained unrealized losses.  At December 31, 
2023, 133 of 133 securities issued as mortgage-backed securities contained unrealized losses. At December, 
31, 2023, 4 of 4 available for sale securities issued as U.S. government agencies contained unrealized 
losses.  At December 31, 2023, 8 of 8 available for sale collateralized loan obligations contained unrealized 
losses.  At December 31, 2023, 2 of 2 available for sale securities issued as United States treasury notes 
contained unrealized losses.  These unrealized losses are considered temporary because of acceptable 
investment grades on each security and the repayment sources of principal and interest are government 
backed. The Company does not intend to sell these investment securities at an unrealized loss position at 
December 31, 2023, and it is more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell these securities 
prior to recovery or maturity.  Based on management’s review, the Company’s available for sale securities 
have no expected credit loss and no related allowance for credit losses has been established. 
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(2) Investment Securities, continued 
The following table shows a rollforward of the allowance for credit losses on held to maturity securities for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 

   
State, County, 
and Municipals 

Mortgage-
Backed 

Securities 

 
Collateralized 

Loan Obligations 

 
Subordinated 
Debentures 

 
 

Totals 

 
Balance, at December 31, 2022 

 
$ 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 
2016-13 

 18,183 25,131 33,597 55,979 132,890 

Provision for credit losses  (601) (16,193) 5,282 38,571 27,059 

Charge-offs of securities  - - - - - 
Recoveries  - - - - - 

Balance, at December 31, 2023 $ 17,582 8,938 38,879 94,550 159,949 

       

 
The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit 
ratings.  The Company monitors the credit ratings on a quarterly basis.  The following table summarizes the 
amortized cost of debt securities held to maturity at December 31, 2023, aggregated by credit quality 
indicators. 
 
  December 31, 2023 

Aaa $ 105,384,082 
Aa1, Aa2, Aa3  11,924,691 
Baa3  500,000 
Not rated  229,201,680 

Total $ 347,010,453 

 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities at December 31, 2023, by contractual 
maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities of mortgage-backed 
securities because the mortgages underlying the securities have the right to call or prepay obligations with 
or without call or prepayment penalties. Therefore, these securities are not included in the maturity categories 
in the following summary: 

  
Investment Securities 

Held to Maturity 
 Investment Securities 

Available for Sale 

Investment Securities with Maturities: 
 

Amortized 
Cost  Fair Value  

Amortized 
Cost  Fair Value 

  Within 1 year $ 11,980,619  11,519,753  34,466,172  34,437,754 

  1 to 5 years  36,534,385  33,545,910  15,310,443  13,991,989 

  5 to 10 years  81,775,881  74,377,992  23,842,095  22,204,927 

  Over 10 years  26,800,366  22,205,794  4,705,317  4,221,993 

  Mortgage-backed securities  189,919,202  157,712,991  218,382,235  185,468,038 

 $ 347,010,453  299,362,440  296,706,262  260,324,701 

 
Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale for 2023 were $24,937,722.  Gross gains of $2,222 were 
realized on those sales and gross losses were $0. Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale for 
2022 were $17,364,531. Gross losses of $1,993,953 were realized on those sales. 
 
Securities with market values of approximately $435,149,000 and $308,509,000 at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively, were pledged to secure public deposits and Federal Reserve Bank borrowings as 
required by law and for other purposes.  
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Major classifications of loans at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are summarized as follows: 
 
  2023  2022 

Commercial, financial and agricultural $ 137,670,599  135,724,654 
Real estate – construction  180,985,149  161,106,256 
Real estate – commercial  586,889,567  542,078,530 
Real estate – residential  241,157,966  201,825,079 
Installment loans to individuals and others  19,235,849  21,202,763 

   Total loans  1,165,939,130  1,061,937,282 

Less allowance for credit losses  (10,883,320)   (10,829,928) 

 $  1,155,055,810   1,051,107,354 

 
The Company grants loans and extensions of credit to individuals and a variety of businesses and corporations    
located in its general trade area of Jefferson, Bulloch, Burke, Candler, Chatham, Columbia, Effingham, 
Emanuel, Jenkins, McDuffie, Richmond, Screven and Washington County, Georgia and contiguous counties 
of east central and southeast Georgia. Although the Company has a diversified loan portfolio, a substantial 
portion of the loan portfolio is collateralized by improved and unimproved real estate and is dependent upon 
the real estate market.  
 

Portfolio segments utilized by the Company are identified above. Relevant risk characteristics for these 
portfolio segments generally include debt service coverage, loan-to-value ratios and financial performance on 
non-consumer loans and credit scores, debt-to-income, collateral type and loan-to-value ratios for consumer 
loans. 
 

The following table summarizes the activity related to the allowance for credit losses for the year ended  
December 31, 2023 under the CECL methodology: 

  
 
 
 
December 31, 2023 

 
Commercial, 
financial and 
agricultural 

 

Real estate-
construction 

 

Real estate-
commercial 

  
 

Real estate-
residential 

 Installment 
loans to 

individuals 
and others 

 

Total 

Balance, beginning of year $      1,589,986     1,002,894     7,016,614        618,911      601,523        10,829,928 
Adjustment to allowance for 
 adoption of ASU 2016-13  (58,574)  (36,946)  (258,490)  (22,800)  (22,160)  (398,970) 
Provision for credit losses          305,311  (114,526)  (1,795,426)     2,860,256        67,326         1,322,941 
Loans charged off  (440,788)                   -                   -  (109,343)  (564,945)  (1,115,076) 

Recoveries           57,179          12,488          63,627        101,363          9,840            244,497 

Balance, end of year $ 1,453,114        863,910  5,026,325  3,448,387  91,584  10,883,320 
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses, continued 
               The following table presents the balance in the allowance for loan losses and the recorded investment in 
               Loans by portfolio segment and based on incurred loss method as of December 31, 2022: 
             

December 31, 2022  

Commercial, 
financial and 
agricultural  

Real estate-
construction  

Real estate-
commercial  

Real estate-
residential  

Installment 
loans to 

individuals 
and others  Total 

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,608,186  546,349  10,152,967  633,537  634,067  13,575,106 
Recovery  (36,135)  423,732  (3,264,752)  (63,011)  440,166  (2,500,000) 
Loans charged off  (40,421)   -   -  (856)  (491,749)  (533,026) 

Recoveries  58,356  32,813  128,399  49,241  19,039  287,848 

Balance, end of year $ 1,589,986  1,002,894   7,016,614  618,911  601,523  10,829,928 

Ending balance, individually 
evaluated for impairment $ 45,000  -  600,000  -  -  645,000 

Ending balance, collectively 
evaluated for impairment $ 1,544,986  1,002,894  6,416,614  618,911  601,523  10,184,928 

Loans:             
Individually evaluated for 

impairment $ 2,996,046  -  11,230,308  1,918,742  -  16,145,096 
Collectively evaluated for 

impairment $ 132,728,608  161,106,256  530,848,222  199,906,337  21,202,763  1,045,792,186 

 
ASU 2022-22 eliminated the concept of troubled debt restructurings (“TDRs”) from the accounting standards 
for companies that have adopted ASC 326.  ASU 2022-22 required additional disclosures for certain loan 
modifications.  Specifically, loan modification disclosures in periods subsequent to the adoption of ASC 326 
must be made for modifications of existing loans to borrowers who were experiencing financial difficulties at 
the time of the modification.  The modification type must include a direct change in the timing or amount of a 
loan’s contractual cash flows.  The additional disclosures are applicable to situations where there is: 
principal forgiveness, an interest rate reduction, an other-than-insignificant payment delay (generally, greater 
than 90 days), a term extension, or any combination thereof. 
 
The allowance for credit losses incorporates an estimate of lifetime expected credit losses and is recorded 
on each asset upon origination or acquisition.  The starting point for the estimate of the allowance for credit 
losses is historical loss information, which includes losses from modifications of receivables to borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulty.  The Company uses a probability of default/loss given default model to 
determine the allowance for credit losses.  An assessment of whether a borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty is made on the date of a modification. 
 
Because the effect of most modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already 
included in the allowance for credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the 
allowance, a change to the allowance for credit losses is generally not recorded upon modification.  
Occasionally, the Company modifies loans by providing principal forgiveness on certain of its real estate 
loans.  When principal forgiveness is provided, the amortized cost basis of the asset is written off against the 
allowance for credit losses.  The amount of the principal forgiveness is deemed to be uncollectible; therefore, 
that portion of the loan is written off, resulting in a reduction of the amortized cost basis and a corresponding 
adjustment to the allowance for credit losses. 
 
In some cases, the Company will modify a certain loan by providing multiple types of concessions.  Typically, 
one type of concession, such as a term extension, is granted initially.  If the borrower continues to experience 
financial difficulty, another concession, such as principal forgiveness, may be granted.   
 
The Company did not have any loans that were modified due to the borrowers experiencing financial difficulty 
for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses, continued 
Prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-13, loans were considered impaired when, based on current information 
and events, it was probable the Company would be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the 
original contractual terms of the loan agreements.  Impaired loans include loans on nonaccrual status and 
accruing troubled debt restructurings.  When determining if the Company would be unable to collect all 
principal and interest payments due in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement, the 
Company considered the borrower’s capacity to pay, which included such factors as the borrower’s current 
financial statements, an analysis of global cash flow sufficient to pay all debt obligations and an evaluation 
of secondary sources of repayment, such as guarantor support and collateral value.  The Company 
individually assessed for impairment all nonaccrual loans greater than $500,000.  The tables below include 
all loans deemed impaired, whether or not individually assessed for impairment.  If a loan was deemed 
impaired, a specific valuation allowance was allocated, if necessary.  Interest payments received on impaired 
loans are applied as a reduction of the outstanding principal balance. 
 
The following table presents loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans as of December 
31, 2022. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
December 31, 2022 

 

Recorded 
Investment 

 Unpaid 
Principal 
Balance 

 
Related 

Allowance 

 Average 
Recorded 
Investment 

 

Impaired loans with related allowance:   

 

       

Commercial, financial and agricultural $ 1,531,374  1,645,706  45,000  1,786,041  
Real estate-commercial  3,046,141  3,821,732  600,000  4,143,868  
Real estate-residential  432,539  504,827  -  453,338  

Impaired loans without related allowance:           

Commercial, financial and agricultural 
 

1,464,672  1,658,973  -  1,536,022  
Real estate-commercial 

 
8,184,167  8,313,187  -  8,234,849  

Real estate-residential 
 

1,486,203  1,714,758  -  1,508,684  

Total: 

 

        

Commercial, financial and agricultural 

 

2,996,046  3,304,679  45,000  3,322,063  
Real estate-commercial 

 
11,230,308  12,134,919  600,000  12,378,717  

Real estate-residential 
 

1,918,742  2,219,585  -  1,962,022  

 $ 16,145,096  17,659,183  645,000  17,662,802  
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses, continued 
The following tables present the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans and nonaccrual loans as 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022 by class of loans: 

 

 
 
 
 
December 31, 2023  

30–89 Days 

Past Due  

> 90 Days 

Past Due  

Total Past 

Due  Current  Total 

 

Non-

Accrual  

Recorded 

Investment > 

90 days and 

Accruing 

Commercial, financial 
and agricultural 

 
$ 1,564,045  1,645,954  3,209,999  134,460,600  137,670,599 

 

1,828,957  511,599 

Real estate-
construction  308,220  41,241  349,461  180,635,688  180,985,149 

 

-    41,241 

Real estate- 
commercial  1,267,859  292,321  1,560,180  585,329,387  586,889,567 

 

2,235,795    180,444 

Real estate-residential  833,410  363,428  1,196,838  239,961,128  241,157,966  82,892  287,085 

Installment loans to 
individuals and 
others  265,308  59,975  325,283  18,910,566  19,235,849 

 

-  59,975 

   $ 4,238,842  2,402,919  6,641,761  1,159,297,369  1,165,939,130 
 

4,147,644  1,080,344 

 
December 31, 2022           

 

   

Commercial, financial 
and agricultural 

 
$ 403,639  3,077,948  3,481,587  132,243,067  135,724,654 

 

2,758,715    319,233 

Real estate-
construction  -  554  554  161,105,702  161,106,256 

 

-  554 

Real estate- 
commercial  1,466,095  1,345,443  2,811,538  539,266,992  542,078,530 

 

1,176,897   168,546 

Real estate-residential  944,426  658,236  1,602,662  200,222,417  201,825,079  434,522  223,714 

Installment loans to 
individuals and 
others  92,532  50,129  142,661  21,060,102  21,202,763 

 

-    50,129 

  $ 2,906,692  5,132,310  8,039,002  1,053,898,280  1,061,937,282 
 

4,370,134  762,176 

 
Of the loans 90 days past due and accruing approximately $48,000  and $7,000, respectively for years 
ended 2023 and 2022 were 90% guaranteed by government entities.  With regards to the loans not 
government guaranteed past due 90 days and accruing the Company is well-secured and repayment, 
principal and interest, are in process of collection. 
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses, continued 

The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of 
borrowers to service their debt such as: current financial information, historical payment experience, credit 
documentation, public information and current economic trends, among other factors. The Company 
analyzes loans individually by classifying the loans as to credit risk.  This analysis is performed on a 
continuous basis.  The Company uses the following definitions for its risk ratings: 

 
Other Assets Especially Mentioned  
Weaknesses exist that could cause future impairment, including the deterioration of financial ratios, past due 
status and questionable management capabilities. Collateral values generally afford adequate coverage, but 
may not be immediately marketable. 

Substandard 
Specific and well-defined weaknesses exist that may include poor liquidity and deterioration of financial ratios.  
The loan may be past due and related deposit accounts may be experiencing overdrafts.  Immediate 
corrective action is necessary. 

Doubtful 
Specific weaknesses characterized as Substandard that are severe enough to make collection in full unlikely.  
There is no reliable secondary source of full repayment. 

Loss 
Loans categorized as Loss have the same characteristics as Doubtful; however, probability of loss is certain.  
Loans classified as such are generally charged-off. 

 
Loans not meeting the criteria above, and that are analyzed individually as part of the above described 
process, are considered to be pass rated loans. As of December 31, 2023, there were no 1-4 family loans in 
process of foreclosure.  As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and based on the most recent analysis 
performed, the risk category of loans by class of loans is as follows: 
 
 
December 31, 2023  Pass 

 Special 
Mention 

 
Substandard 

 Doubtful/ 
Loss 

 
Total 

Commercial, financial and 
agricultural 

 
$ 135,428,588  413,054  1,828,957  -  137,670,599 

Real estate-construction  180,985,149  -  -  -  180,985,149 
Real estate-commercial  575,015,615  2,024,131  9,849,821  -  586,889,567 
Real estate-residential  239,579,268  1,033,758  544,940  -  241,157,966 
Installment loans to individuals 

and others  19,235,849  -  -  -  19,235,849  
$ 1,150,244,469  3,470,943  12,223,718  -  1,165,939,130 

 
December 31, 2022           

Commercial, financial and 
agricultural 

 
$ 133,188,976  237,331  2,298,347  -  135,724,654 

Real estate-construction  161,106,256  -  -  -  161,106,256 
Real estate-commercial  530,848,223  2,313,525  8,916,782  -  542,078,530 
Real estate-residential  200,130,792  1,139,673  554,614  -  201,825,079 
Installment loans to individuals 

and others  21,202,763  -  -  -  21,202,763  
$ 1,046,477,010  3,690,529  11,769,743  -  1,061,937,282 
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses, continued 
 The following table is a summary of the Company’s nonaccrual loans by major categories for the periods                                
indicated. 
 
  CECL Incurred Loss 

   
December 31, 2023 

December 31, 
2022 

   
Nonaccrual loans with 

No Allowance 

 
Nonaccrual loans 
with an Allowance 

Total 
Nonaccrual 

Loans 

 
Nonaccrual 

Loans 

Commercial, financial, and 
    agricultural 

$ 428,775 1,400,182 1,828,957 2,758,715 

Real estate-commercial  2,235,795 - 2,235,795 1,176,897 

Real estate-residential  82,892 - 82,892 434,522 

Total loans $ 2,747,462 1,400,182 4,147,644 4,370,134 

 
The Company did not recognize any interest income on nonaccrual loans for the year ending December 31, 
2023. 
 
The following table represents the accrued interest receivable written off by reversing interest income during 
the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 

  For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2023 

Commercial, financial, and agricultural $ 28,261 
Real estate-commercial  3,431 
Installment loans to individuals and others  1,644 

Total loans $ 33,336 

 
The Company has certain loans for which repayment is dependent upon the operation or sale of collateral, 
as the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty.  The underlying collateral can vary based upon the type 
of loan.  The following provides more detail about the types of collateral that secure collateral-dependent 
loans: 
 
• Commercial, financial, and agricultural loans are primarily secured by business equipment, furniture and 
fixtures, inventory, and receivables. 
 
• Construction real estate loans are typically secured by commercial and residential lots and 1-4 family homes 
in process of construction. 
 
• Commercial real estate loans can be secured by either owner-occupied commercial real estate or non-
owner occupied investment commercial real estate.  Typically, owner-occupied commercial real estate loans 
are secured by office buildings, warehouses, manufacturing facilities and other commercial and industrial 
properties occupied by operating companies.  Non-owner-occupied commercial real estate loans are 
generally secured by  office buildings and complexes, retail facilities, multifamily complexes, land under 
development, industrial properties, as well as other commercial or industrial real estate. 
 
• Residential real estate loans are typically secured by first mortgages, and in some cases could be secured 
by a second mortgage. 
 
•Installment loans are generally secured by automobiles, motorcycles, recreational vehicles and other 
personal property.  Some consumer loans are unsecured and have no underlying collateral.   
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(3) Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses, continued 
The following table details the amortized cost of collateral dependent loans: 
 
  December 31, 2023 

Commercial, financial, and 
    agricultural 

$ 1,293,362 

Real estate-commercial  9,849,821 

Real estate-residential  544,940 

Total loans $ 11,688,123 

 
(4) Premises and Equipment   

Major classifications of premises and equipment are summarized as follows: 
 

  2023  2022 

Land $ 10,356,795  9,857,840 
Buildings and improvements  34,387,670  31,730,816 
Furniture and fixtures  16,814,247  16,173,983 

  61,558,712  57,762,639 

Less accumulated depreciation  (22,807,356)  (21,123,336) 

 $ 38,751,356  36,639,303 

  
 Depreciation expense amounted to $1,684,021 and $1,626,825 in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 

(5) Goodwill and Core Deposit Intangible 
             The following table presents information about our intangible assets at December 31: 
 
  2023   2022  
   Gross Carrying   Accumulated   Gross Carrying   Accumulated 
  Amount   Amortization   Amount   Amortization  

             Indefinite lived intangible asset: 
         Goodwill $ 3,388,930 $ - $ 3,388,930 $ - 

             Finite lived intangible asset: 
           Core deposit intangibles $ 608,290 $ 608,290 $ 608,290 $ 602,382 

 
 
Amortization expense of $5,908 and $74,804 related to the core deposit intangibles was recognized in 2023 
and 2022, respectively. 
 
 As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, goodwill totaled $3,388,930. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
annually in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s evaluation considers 
various components, to include economic conditions, industry considerations, financial performance as well 
as other information.  As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively, management completed the 
evaluations and determined no impairment existed on the goodwill. 
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(6) Deposits 
Maturities of time deposits at December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

 
Year ending December 31,   
2024 $ 183,445,196 
2025  67,989,153 
2026  21,539,852 
2027  13,026,385 
2028  5,604,540 
Thereafter  113,857 

 $ 291,718,983 

  
Brokered deposits totaled $33,514,000 and $6,473,000 respectively as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.  As 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has one depositor whose deposits total more than five percent 
of total deposits. 

 
(7) Borrowings and Unused Lines of Credit 

The Company is a shareholder of the FHLB and as such has access to borrowings from the FHLB.  As of 
December 31, 2023, the Company had $5,000,000 outstanding in loan advances, maturing in 2025 and an 
interest rate of 4.55%, from the FHLB.  No advances were outstanding at December 31, 2022.  The advances 
were collateralized by a blanket floating lien agreement on all unencumbered first mortgage residential and 
commercial real estate loans. Loans qualifying as collateral with a balance of $188,154,840 and 
$150,411,017, respectively, and a discounted value of approximately $113,392,000 and  $103,771,000, 
respectively at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
The Company has federal funds accommodations of $59,000,000 at December 31, 2023 with other financial 
institutions where the Company may borrow funds on a short-term basis at the market rate in effect at the 
time of borrowing.  There were no federal funds purchased outstanding as of December 31, 2023 or 2022. 
 
On October 9, 2020, the Company entered into a subordinated debt agreement that totaled $24,000,000.  
The debt bears an interest rate at a fixed-to SOFR floating rate of 6.00% per annum payable semi-annually 
in arrears on April 15th and October 15th.  The Company may not prepay the debt for five years after issuance 
and the debt matures on October 15, 2030.  The subordinated debt has been structured to fully count as Tier 
2 regulatory capital on a consolidated basis.  The subordinated debt balance as of December 31, 2023 and 
2022 was $23,749,636 and $23,608,300, respectively. 
 
Issuance costs associated with the debt are netted against the debt outstanding.  The costs are being 
amortized over five years.  The unamortized balance of issuance costs at December 31, 2023 and 2022 
totaled $250,364 and $391,700, respectively. 
 
The Federal Reserve Bank established the Bank Term Funding Program (BTFP) to make available additional 
funding to eligible depository institutions in order to help assure banks have the ability to meet the needs of 
all their depositors.  The BTFP will be an additional source of liquidity against high quality securities.  The 
BTFP offers advance of up to one year in length to banks pledging any collateral eligible for purchase by the 
Federal Reserve Banks in open market operations, such as U. S. Treasuries, U. S. Agency Securities, and 
U.S. Agency Mortgage Backed Securities.  These assets will be valued at par.  The interest rate for term 
advances under the BTFP will be the one-year overnight index swap rate plus 10 basis points.  The rate will 
be fixed for the term of the advance. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $55,000,000 in loan advances outstanding from the BTFP.  The 
advances mature in 2024, $5,000,000 matures April 20th, $35,000,000 matures December 20th, and 
$15,000,000 matures December 24th.  No advances were outstanding as of December 31, 2022.  The loans 
were collateralized by eligible securities safekept at the Federal Reserve Bank.  The par value of securities 
collateralizing BTFP advances is approximately $65,651,000.  Interest rates on the BTFP advances ranged 
from 4.84% to 5.01% for the year ending December 31, 2023. 
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(8) Junior Subordinated Debentures 
In February 2004 and May 2007, Queensborough formed wholly owned Delaware statutory business trusts, 
Queensborough Capital Trust II (“Trust II”) and Queensborough Capital Trust III (“Trust III”), respectively 
(collectively, the “Trusts”). The Trusts each issued $6 million of guaranteed preferred beneficial interests in 
Queensborough’s junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures that qualify as Tier I Capital under 
Federal Reserve Board guidelines. Queensborough owns all of the common securities of the Trusts. The 
debentures relating to Trust II pay interest at a floating rate, equal to three-month SOFR plus 2.85%. The 
debentures relating to Trust III pay interest at a floating rate equal to three-month SOFR plus 1.65%. 
 
The proceeds received by the Company from the sale of the junior subordinated debentures were used to 
infuse capital into the Bank to improve its capital position and for other general corporate purposes. The 
debentures represent the sole asset of each of the Trusts. The Trusts are not included in these consolidated 
financial statements.   
 
The trust preferred securities accrue and pay quarterly distributions based on the liquidation value of $50,000 
per capital security at the respective floating or fixed interest rate, which at December 31, 2023 was 8.51% 
for Trust II and 7.30% for Trust III.  The Company has guaranteed distributions and other payments due on 
the trust preferred securities to the extent the Trusts have funds with which to make the distributions and 
other payments.  The net combined effect of all the documents entered into in connection with the trust 
preferred securities is that the Company is liable to make the distributions and other payments required on 
the trust preferred securities. 
 
The trust preferred securities are mandatorily redeemable upon maturity of the debentures on April 7, 2034 
for Trust II and June 15, 2037 for Trust III, or upon earlier redemption as provided in the indentures.  The 
Company has the right to redeem the debentures purchased by the Trusts, in whole or in part, at a redemption 
price equal to the principal amount and any accrued but unpaid interest. 

 
(9) Income Taxes 

The components of income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations are as follows: 
 

  2023  2022 

Current income tax expense  $ 4,217,582  4,752,288 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense   (62,053)  893,728 

Total income tax expense  $ 4,155,529  5,646,016 

 
The differences between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the statutory 
federal income tax rate of 21% in 2023 and 2022, respectively, to earnings before income taxes are as 
follows: 
 

  2023  2022 

Pretax income at statutory rate $ 4,057,210  5,221,212 
Add (deduct):     

Tax-exempt interest income  (171,769)  (177,740) 
Non-deductible expenses  112,822  44,722 
State taxes and credits, net of federal benefit  144,244  550,885 
Other  13,022  6,937 

 $ 4,155,529  5,646,016 
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(9) Income Taxes, continued 
The following summarizes the components of the net deferred tax asset. The deferred tax asset is included 
as a component of other assets at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 

   2023   2022 

Deferred income tax assets:     
Allowance for credit losses  $ 2,779,600    2,765,964 
Reserve for HTM securities  40,851                  - 
Reserve for unfunded commitments  136,748                  - 
Writedown of investment  46,968         46,968 
Stock benefit plan  238,799       169,841 
Net unrealized loss on debt securities  11,732,009  13,130,667 
Other real estate owned  -         14,061 

   Total gross deferred income tax assets  14,974,975  16,127,501 

Deferred income tax liabilities:      
Premises and equipment  (2,796,854)  (2,708,211) 
Intangible asset  (424,401)     (397,965) 

  Total gross deferred income tax liabilities  (3,221,255)   (3,106,176) 

  Net deferred income tax asset  $  11,753,720  13,021,325 

 
 Deferred tax assets represent the future benefit of deductible differences and, if it is more likely than nt that 
a tax asset will not be realized, a valuation allowance is required to reduce the recorded deferred tax assets 
to net realizable value.  After review of all positive and negative factors and potential tax planning strategies, 
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, management has determined that a valuation allowance is not 
necessary.  Management has determined that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset at 
December 31, 2023 will be realized.  The Company has analyzed the tax positions taken or expected to be 
taken in its tax returns and concluded it has no liability related to uncertain tax positions in accordance with 
applicable regulations. 
 

(10) Related Party Transactions  
The Company has entered into transactions with certain directors, executive officers and their affiliates. The 
following summary reflects related party loan activity during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

 
  2023  2022 

Beginning balance $ 12,009,520   12,369,258 

New loans  12,124,907     13,432,595 

Repayments  (15,237,898)    (13,792,333) 

Ending balance $ 8,896,529  12,009,520 

 
The Company had deposits from related parties totaling approximately $11,102,000 and $11,625,000 as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
The Bank leases office space from a company that has several common shareholders with the Company 
under an annual lease arrangement. Rent expense for 2023 and 2022, which is deemed to approximate the 
normal market rate, was approximately $90,000 and $91,000, respectively. The lease is renewed annually 
and is approved by the Board of Directors of the Company for each annual renewal. 
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(11) Commitments  
The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business 
to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend 
credit and standby letters of credit. Those instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in 
excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The contractual amounts of those 
instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Company has in particular classes of financial instruments. 
 
The Company’s exposure to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the other party to the financial 
instrument for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual 
amount of those instruments. The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional 
obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. 

  
In most cases, the Company does require collateral to support financial instruments with credit risk. 
 

  Contractual Amount 

    2023  2022 

Financial instruments whose contract amounts represent credit risk:     
  Commitments to extend credit $ 266,750,000  282,078,000 
  Standby letters of credit $ 5,402,000  5,141,000 

 
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any 
condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination 
clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments may expire without being drawn 
upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Bank 
evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if 
deemed necessary by the Company, upon extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation. 
Collateral held varies but may include unimproved and improved real estate, certificates of deposit or 
personal property. 
  
Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance 
of a customer to a third party. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as 
that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. The Company holds collateral supporting these 
commitments for which collateral is deemed necessary.  
 
The Company maintains an allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded balances for 
existing lines of credit, commitments to extend future credit, as well as standby letters of credit when there is 
a contractual obligation to extend credit and when this extension of credit is not unconditionally cancellable.  
The allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a provision for credit loss expense.  The 
estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur, which is based on a historical funding 
study derived from internal information, and an estimate of expected credit losses on commitments expected 
to be funded over its estimated life, which are the same loss rates that are used in computing the allowance 
for credit losses on loans, and are discussed in Note 3.  The allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan 
commitments of $535,426 at December 31, 2023, is separately classified on the balance sheet within Other 
Liabilities. 
 
The following table presents the balance and activity in the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan 
commitments for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 

  Total Allowance for Credit Losses-
Unfunded Commitments 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $ - 
Adjustment to allowance for unfunded commitments 
  for adoption of ASU 2016-13 

 535,426 

Provision for unfunded commitments  - 

Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 535,426 
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(12) Stock Options, Warrants, and Repurchase 
In 1998, the Company adopted The Queensborough Company Stock Incentive Plan, which provides that 
certain officers, key employees, directors and consultants of the Company may be granted stock options to 
purchase shares of common stock of the Company.  The plan limits the total number of shares which may 
be awarded to 120,000.  The options are granted at the market value of the shares on the date of grant, vest 
over four years and are exercisable within ten years of grant. At December 31, 2023, options for 107,700 
shares remain available for future grants.  

 
 There were no options granted, forfeited or exercised in 2023 or 2022. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
 there were no stock options outstanding.   
 
In 2017, the Company completed a private placement of its common stock.  62,830 shares were sold and 
issued at an average price of $55.64 per share for a total of $3,496,000.  Along with the common shares 
there were two warrants issued for every ten shares purchased.  The warrants allow the holder to purchase 
additional common shares of the Company at a price of $72.00 per share through February 1, 2027, at which 
date the warrants will expire if not exercised.  A total of 12,566 warrants were issued.  During 2023 1,088 
warrants were exercised at a price of $72.00.  During 2022 no warrants were exercised.  As of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, there were 9,078 and 10,166 warrants outstanding, respectively. 
 
On February 15, 2023, the Company announced a stock repurchase program approved by its Board of 
Directors, whereby the Company will purchase and retire up to 16,600 shares of its common stock.  
Subsequently, the Company notified all common stockholders of its intent to repurchase up to 16,600 shares 
and prescribed the manner and method for shareholders to participate in the program.  The Company 
repurchased 14,608 shares under the program at $90 per share for a total of $1,314,780 in 2023. 
 

(13) Benefit Plan 
The Company has a 401(k) profit sharing plan which is available to employees subject to certain age and 
service requirements. The plan covers substantially all employees and allows for employee pre-tax and post-
tax contributions. Contributions to the plan by the Company are determined under a matching formula.  The 
Company, at its discretion, may contribute additional amounts. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022, contributions of $902,968 and $855,513, respectively, were expensed to salaries and employee 
benefits. 
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(14) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and 
liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures.  Securities available for sale are recorded at fair value on a 
recurring basis.  Additionally, from time to time, the Company may be required to record at fair value other 
assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as loans held for sale, impaired loans, real estate acquired in lieu of 
foreclosure and certain other assets. These nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve application 
of the lower of cost or market accounting or write-downs of individual assets. 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the 
assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value.  These 
levels are: 

 
Level 1 – Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets. 
 
Level 2 – Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices 
for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based 
valuation  techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market. 
 
Level 3 – Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use at least one significant 
assumption not observable in the market. These unobservable assumptions reflect estimates of 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.  Valuation techniques 
include use of option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques. 

 
Following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities which are either recorded 
or disclosed at fair value. 

 
Investment Securities 
Investment securities available for sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.  For securities available 
for sale as well as securities held to maturity, fair value measurement is based upon quoted prices, if 
available.  If quoted prices are not available, fair values are measured using independent pricing models or 
other model-based valuation techniques, such as the present value of future cash flows adjusted for the 
security’s credit rating, prepayment assumptions and other factors such as credit loss assumptions.  Level 1 
securities include those traded on an active exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange, and U.S. 
Treasury securities that are traded by dealers or brokers in active over-the-counter market funds.  Level 2 
securities include mortgage-backed securities issued by government sponsored enterprises and state, county 
and municipal bonds.  Securities classified as Level 3 include asset-backed securities in less liquid markets 
and trust preferred securities. 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments 
The fair value of the interest rate derivatives, characterized as fair value hedges, are calculated based on a 
discounted cash flow model.  All future floating rate cash flows are projected and both floating rate and fixed 
rate cash flows are discounted to the valuation date.  The benchmark interest rate curve utilized for projecting 
cash flows and applying appropriate discount rates is built by obtaining publicly available third party market 
quotes for various swap maturity terms.  The components of the valuation were observable or could be 
corroborated by observable market data and, therefore, were classified within Level 2 of the valuation 
hierarchy. 
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(14) Fair Value of Financial Instruments, continued 
 Collateral Dependent Loans  

The Company does not record loans at fair value on a recurring basis.  However, from time to time, a loan 
may be considered individually evaluated and an allowance for credit losses may be established.  Loans for 
which it is probable that payment of interest and principal will not be made in accordance with the contractual 
terms of the loan agreement are considered individually evaluated.  Once a loan is identified as individually 
evaluated, management measures the impairment in accordance with FASB ASC 326.  The fair value of 
individually evaluated loans is estimated using one of several methods, including collateral value, market 
value of similar debt, enterprise value, liquidation value and discounted cash flows.  Those individually 
evaluated loans not requiring an allowance represent loans for which the fair value of the expected 
repayments or collateral exceed the recorded investments in such loans.  In accordance with FASB ASC 820, 
“Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures,” individually evaluated loans where an allowance is established 
based on the fair value of collateral require classification in the fair value hierarchy.  When the fair value of 
the collateral is based on an observable market price or a current appraised value, the Company considers 
the individually loan as nonrecurring Level 2.  The Company’s current loan and appraisal policies require the 
Company to obtain updated appraisals on an “as is" basis at renewal, or in the case of an individually 
evaluated loan, on an annual basis, either through a new external appraisal or an appraisal evaluation.  When 
an appraised value is not available or management determines the fair value of the collateral is further 
impaired below the appraised value and there is no observable market price, the Company considers the 
individually evaluated loan as nonrecurring Level 3. 

 
 Loans Held for Sale 

Loans held for sale, generally consisting of first-lien residential mortgages recently originated and intended 
for sale in the secondary market, are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value. The estimated fair 
value of loans held for sale is approximated by the carrying value, given the short-term nature of the loans 
and similarity to what secondary markets are currently offering for portfolios of loans with similar 
characteristics.  The Company records loans held for sale as recurring Level 2. 

 
 Other Real Estate 

Other real estate properties are adjusted to fair value upon transfer of the loans to other real 
estate.  Subsequently, other real estate assets are carried at fair value.  Fair value is based upon independent 
market prices, appraised values of the collateral or management’s estimation of the value of the 
collateral.  When the fair value of the collateral is based on an observable market price, the Company records 
the other real estate as nonrecurring Level 2.  When the fair value is based on an appraised value or 
management’s estimation of the value of the collateral, the Company records the other real estate asset as 
nonrecurring Level 3. 
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(14) Fair Value of Financial Instruments, continued 
 Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

The table below presents the recorded amount of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
 

Assets         
Balance at December 31, 2023  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

State, county and municipals $  -   7,352,162   -   7,352,162 

Mortgage-backed securities  -  185,468,038  -  185,468,038 

U. S. Government agencies  -  12,441,398  -  12,441,398 

U. S. Treasury notes  -  42,325,903  -  42,325,903 
Trust preferred securities  -  -  300,000  300,000 

Collateralized loan obligations   -   12,437,200   -   12,437,200 

Loans held for sale  -  5,029,127  -  5,029,127 

Total assets measured at fair value 
   on a recurring basis $ -  265,053,828  300,000  265,353,828 

Liabilities         

Derivative Liability $ -  534,944  -  534,944 

         

Balance at December 31, 2022  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

State, county and municipals $ -  7,846,813  -  7,846,813 

Mortgage-backed securities  -  207,706,784  -  207,706,784 

U. S. Government agencies  -  13,695,098  -  13,695,098 

U. S. Treasury notes    7,641,908  -  7,641,908 

Trust preferred securities  -  -  300,000  300,000 
Collateralized loan obligations  -  16,358,020  -  16,358,020 

Loans held for sale  -  7,788,032  -  7,788,032 

Total $ -  261,036,655  300,000   261,336,655 

 
 As of December 31, 2022, there were no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 
 
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
during the years ended December 31: 
 

  Trust Preferred Securities 

Level 3 Fair Value Measurements  2023  2022 

Balance at beginning of year $ 300,000  300,000 
(Sales)/purchases  -  - 
Net changes in gain/(loss) realized and unrealized  -  - 
Transfers out of Level 3 to other investments  -  - 

Balance at end of year $ 300,000  300,000 
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(14) Fair Value of Financial Instruments, continued 
 Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis 

The Company may be required, from time to time, to measure certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring 
basis. These include assets that are measured at the lower of cost or market that were recognized at fair 
value below cost at the end of the period.  Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis are included 
in the table below as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

 

Balance at December 31, 2023  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

Other real estate owned $ -  -  26,212  26,212 
Collateral dependent loans, net  -  -  1,643,123  1,643,123 

Total assets at fair value $ -  -  1,669,335  1,669,335 

Balance at December 31, 2022         

Other real estate owned $ -  -  340,229  340,229 
Impaired loans, net  -  -  15,500,096  15,500,096 

Total assets at fair value $ -  -  15,840,325  15,840,325 

 
For Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value 
measurements were as follows: 

 

  

Fair Value as of 
December 31, 

2023  Valuation Technique  

Significant 
Observable Inputs  

Significant Unobservable 
Inputs  

Collateral dependent 
loans, net of 
specific reserve  

$ 1,643,123 
 

Appraisal Value  
 

Appraisals and/or sales 
of comparable properties 

 
Appraisals discounted 15% to 
20% for sales commissions 

and other holding cost  

Other real estate 
owned 

 

$  26,212 

 

Appraisal Value/Comparison 
Sales/Other estimates 

 
Appraisals and/or sales 

of comparable properties 

 
Appraisals discounted 15% to 
20% for sales commissions 

and other holding cost  

  

Fair Value as of 
December 31, 

2022  Valuation Technique  

Significant 
Observable Inputs  

Significant Unobservable 
Inputs  

Impaired loans, net 
of specific reserve 

 

$ 15,840,096 
 

Appraisal Value 
 

Appraisals and/or sales 
of comparable properties 

 
Appraisals discounted 15% to 
20% for sales commissions 

and other holding cost  

Other real estate 
owned 

 

$   340,229 

 

Appraisal Value/Comparison 
Sales/Other estimates 

 

Appraisals and/or sales 
of comparable properties 

 

Appraisals discounted 15% to 
20% for sales commissions 

and other holding cost  
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(15) Regulatory Matters 
The Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the 
federal banking agencies.  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and 
possibly additional discretionary action by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect 
on the Bank’s financial statements.  These capital requirements were modified in 2013 with the Basel III 
capital rules, which establish a new comprehensive capital framework for U.S. banking organizations. The 
Company and the Bank became subject to the new rules on January 1, 2015, with a phase-in period for many 
new provisions. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, 
the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures for their 
assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. 
The capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about 
components, risk weighting and other factors. 
  
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and the 
Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of Common Equity Tier 1, Tier I 
and total capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined) and of Tier I capital to 
average assets (as defined). It is management’s opinion, as of December 31, 2023, that the Company and 
the Bank meet all applicable capital adequacy requirements.  
 
The Basel III capital rule requires banking organizations to maintain a minimum CET1 ratio of 4.5%, a Tier 1 
capital ratio of 6.0%, and a total capital ratio of 8.0% to be considered “adequately capitalized.” The Basel III 
capital rule also includes a capital conservation buffer requirement above the minimum risk-based capital 
ratio requirements that banking organizations must meet in order to avoid limitations on capital distributions 
(including dividends and repurchases of any Tier 1 capital instrument, including common and qualifying 
preferred stock) and certain discretionary incentive compensation payments. The multi-year phase-in of the 
capital conservation buffer requirement began on January 1, 2016, and, for 2017, banking organizations are 
required to maintain a CET1 capital ratio of at least 5.125%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 6.625%, and a 
total capital ratio of at least 8.625% to avoid limitations on capital distributions and certain discretionary 
incentive compensation payments. When fully phased-in on January 1, 2019, banking organizations must 
maintain a CET1 capital ratio of at least 7.0%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 8.5%, and a total capital ratio 
of at least 10.5% to avoid limitations on capital distributions and certain discretionary incentive compensation 
payments.  
 
As of December 31, 2023, the most recent notification from the OCC categorized the Bank as well capitalized 
under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or event since that 
notification which management believes have changed the bank’s category. 
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(15) Regulatory Matters, continued 
The Company’s and the Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios are presented in the table below (dollars 
in thousands). 

 
 

Actual  
For Capital 

Adequacy Purposes  

To Be Well 
Capitalized Under 
Prompt Corrective 
Action Provisions 

 Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio 

As of December 31, 2023:            

 Total Capital (to Risk-weighted Assets)            
   Consolidated   196,674  14.52%  108,326  8.00%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank  194,064  14.35%  108,209  8.00%  135,261  10.00% 
 Tier I Capital (to Risk-weighted Assets)            
   Consolidated 161,096  11.90%  81,245  6.00%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank 182,486  13.49%  81,157  6.00%  108,209  8.00% 
 Common Equity Tier 1 capital (to risk-   
  weighted assets) 

           

   Consolidated 149,096  11.01%  60,933  4.50%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank 182,486  13.49%  60,868  4.50%  87,920  6.50% 
 Tier I Leverage (to Average Assets)            
   Consolidated 161,096  8.03%     80,227  4.00%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank 182,486  9.11%  80,135  4.00%  100,169  5.00% 

 

As of December 31, 2022:            

 Total Capital (to Risk-weighted Assets)            
   Consolidated   184,775  14.46%  102,232  8.00%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank   181,552  14.23%  102,051  8.00%  127,564  10.00% 
 Tier I Capital (to Risk-weighted Assets)            
   Consolidated 149,945  11.73%  76,674  6.00%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank 170,772  13.38%  76,539  6.00%  102,051  8.00% 
 Common Equity Tier 1 capital (to risk-   
  weighted assets) 

           

   Consolidated 137,945  10.79%  57,505  4.50%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank 170,722  13.38%  57,404  4.50%  82,917  6.50% 
 Tier I Leverage (to Average Assets)            
   Consolidated 149,945  7.56%   79,346  4.00%  N/A  N/A 
   Bank 170,722  8.61%  79,298  4.00%  99,123  5.00% 

 
Dividends paid by the Bank are the primary source of funds available to the Company. Banking regulations 
limit the amount of dividends that may be paid without prior approval of the regulatory authorities. These 
restrictions are based on the level of regulatory classified assets, the prior years’ net earnings and the ratio 
of equity capital to total assets.  
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(16) Derivative Financial Instruments 
 The Company utilizes interest rate swaps agreements as part of its asset-liability management strategy to 
help mitigate its interest rate risk.  The notional amount of the interest rate swaps does not represent amounts 
exchanged by the parties.  The amount exchanged is determined by reference to the notional amount and 
other terms of the individual interest rate swap agreements.  Derivative financial instruments are recorded in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets as either an asset or a liability (in other assets or other liabilities, 
respectively) and measured at fair value. 
 
The Company presents derivative position gross on the balance sheet.  The following table reflects the 
derivatives recorded on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. 
 
  2023 

  Notional Fair Value 
  Amount (Liability) 

Included in other liabilities:    
Derivatives designated as hedges:    
 Interest rate swaps related to     
 fair value hedges $ 75,000,000 (534,944) 

 
 The Company did not have any derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2022. 
 
 Fair Value Hedges 

 Fair value hedge interest rate swaps mature on various dates in 2026 with a combined notional amount of 
$75,000,000.  The risk management objective with respect to the fair value hedges is to hedge the risk of 
certain government backed mortgage-backed securities.  These fair value hedges convert the fixed rates of 
the bonds to a 1-month SOFR floating rate.  The Company expects these hedges to remain effective during 
the remaining term of the swap. 
 
The Company has chosen early adoption of the portfolio layer method. 
 
The following table presents the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheet related to cumulative 
basis adjustment for the fair value hedge as of December 31, 2023: 
 

Line Item in the Balance Sheet in 
which the Hedged item 

is included 

  
Fair Market Value of the 

Hedged Assets 

Securities available for sale $ 146,938,323 

  
Below is information about the interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges at December 31, 2023: 
 
Notional amount of fair value hedges                                   $75,000,000 
Weighted average fixed pay rate                                          4.25225% 
Weighted average SOFR                                                      5.38% 
Weighted average maturity in years                                      2.34 
 
The following table presents the change in fair value for derivatives designated as fair value hedges as well 
as the offsetting change in fair value on the designated hedged item for the year ended December 31, 2023: 
 

  2023 

Interest rate contracts: Gain or (Loss)   
  Change in fair value of interest rate swaps hedging 
   available for sale securities 

 
$ 

 
(534,944) 

  Change in fair value of hedged portion of available 
   for sale securities 

 
$ 

 
         534,944 
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(17) Commitments and Contingencies 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company may, from time to time, become a party to legal claims and 
disputes.  At December 31, 2023, management, after consultation with legal counsel, is not aware of any 
pending or threatened litigation or unasserted claims or assessments that could result in losses, if any, would 
be material to the financial statements. 

 
(18) Subsequent Events 

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial 
statements are issued.  Recognized subsequent events are events or transactions that provide additional 
evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet, including the estimates inherent in 
the process of preparing financial statements.  Nonrecognized subsequent events are events that provide 
evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date of the balance sheet but arose after that date.    
Management has reviewed events occurring through March 21, 2024 the date the financial statements were 
available to be issued and no subsequent events occurred requiring disclosure. 

 
(19) The Queensborough Company (Parent Company Only) Financial Information 
 

Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

  2023  2022 

Assets    

Cash  $ 4,278,449  5,021,864 

Investment in Bank  150,984,901  135,204,281 

Other assets  2,010,383  1,748,447 

Total assets $ 157,273,733  141,974,592 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity     

     

Other liabilities $ 442,493  422,040 

Dividends payable  2,598,528  2,625,568 

Senior subordinated debentures  23,749,636  23,608,300 

Junior subordinated debentures  12,372,000  12,372,000 

Total liabilities  39,162,657  39,027,908 

Total shareholders’ equity  118,111,076  102,946,684 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 157,273,733  141,974,592 
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(19) The Queensborough Company (Parent Company Only) Financial Information, continued 
 

Statements of Earnings 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

  2023  2022 

     
Dividends from Bank $ 5,100,000  4,400,000 

  Total income  5,100,000  4,400,000 

Interest expense  2,496,965  2,076,803 
Other expense  202,587  110,152 

  Total expenses  2,699,552  2,186,955 

Income before income tax benefit and equity in undistributed 
 earnings of Bank 

 

2,400,448  2,213,045 

Income tax benefit  818,235  581,057 

Income before equity in undistributed earnings of Bank  3,218,683  2,794,102 

Equity in undistributed earnings of Bank  11,945,835  16,422,794 

  Net earnings $ 15,164,518  19,216,896 

 
Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

  2023  2022 

Cash flows from operating activities:     
 Net earnings  $     15,164,518  19,216,896 

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash used by 
operating activities: 

    

Equity in earnings of Bank  (11,945,835)  (16,422,794) 
Change in other  (127,186)   2,503,117   

    Net cash provided by operating activities        3,091,497   5,297,219 

     
Cash flows from financing activities:     

Dividends paid  (2,598,528)  (2,625,568) 
Exercise of warrants             78,336  - 
Redemption and retirement of common stock  (1,314,720)  -  

Net cash used by financing activities  (3,834,912)   (2,625,568) 

Net change in cash  (743,415)  2,671,651 

Cash at beginning of year        5,021,864  2,350,213 

Cash at end of year $        4,278,449   5,021,864 
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